RECEIVED

JUN 01 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Appeal from Florence County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable H. Steven Deberry, IV, Circuit Court Judge for Common Pleas

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001006

Wendy Lynch,Respondent,

v.

Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White Lynch,.....Defendants,
Of whom Elizabeth Langley is the Appellant and
Rebecca White is a Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James R. Snell, Jr. (SCBAR No.: 72663)
Law Office of James R. Snell, Jr., LLC
123 Harmon Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 359-3301
(800) 537-6249 (facsimile)
jamesnell@snelllaw.com

Counsel for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court err in overruling Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and/or Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the cause of action of Civil Conspiracy?
- II. Did the Trial Court err in overruling Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and/or Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the cause of action of Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress?
- III. Did the Trial Court err in allowing the Verdict Form to be sent to the Jury without separating actual and punitive damages for each separate cause of action, in so that the damages awarded for an individual cause of action cannot be distinguished from the other causes of action?
- IV. Did the Trial Court err in allowing the voicemail message left for Respondent by Attorney Eric Poston (A.K.A. Ducati James) be admitted into evidence, when the voicemail message was both hearsay and more prejudicial than probative?
- V. Did the Trial Court err in allowing the use of the word "kill" in reference to the allegedly defamatory statement by Appellant that Respondent "tried to send Daddy to Heaven early," when the word "kill" was both more prejudicial than probative and oversteps the Jury's fact-finding role of determining the meaning of the ambiguous statement to determine if it was or was not defamatory in nature?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Marion Lynch died testate on February 9th, 2013, leaving a Last Will and Testament dated May 11, 2012. (R. p. 1100-1103). The Last Will and Testament left Wendy Lynch and Elizabeth Lynch Langley as Personal Representatives of his Estate. Id. This action was commenced by Wendy Lynch filing a Summons and Complaint in the Florence County Court of Commons Pleas on February 7, 2016. (R. p. 1-13). The case was initially removed from the docket by order dated February 7, 2018, pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCF. (R. p. 14-15). The Plaintiff filed a motion to restore on February 6, 2019. The case was restored by order filed April 17, 2019. (R. p. 16-18). This matter was later held for Trial in front of the Honorable H. Steven Deberry IV April 25-29, 2022. (R. p. 19-1098).

This case comes about after the death of Jim Lynch who passed away in February of 2013 after a battle with Brain Cancer. Mr. Lynch was in and out of the hospital leading up to his passing and ultimately leading up to the claims and familial disputes that have come before the Circuit Court. The case in Circuit Court has been pending for about 9 years and the lawsuit that came before the court was brought about half way through this time. The suit was brought about by the Respondent Wendy Lynch to sue Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White for Civil Conspiracy, Defamation, Abuse of Process, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Wendy Lynch and her attorneys argued that through the statements by Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White regarding blaming Wendy Lynch for “tried to send Daddy to Heaven early”, filing complaints to DSS and the nursing board, having a coroner investigate the death, and then accusing Wendy of killing her father; that Wendy Lynch suffered emotional distress and was defamed by her sisters and their abuse of the system.

It is due to the brain tumors of Mr. Jim Lynch, that the attorney for Elizabeth Langley argued it was reasonable for Elizabeth Langley to believe that her father was not capable of making a will and that he was under undue influence due to the severity of his condition. Ms. Langley's attorney then further argued that it is because of her concern for her father and his estate that she filed several disputes in the court in order to preserve her father's intentions for his estate and also respect the advice of her family.

It is through Wendy Lynch's complaint that this matter was put forth in the Florence County Court of Common pleas, and then tried April 25-29, 2022. (R. p. 1-13; R. p. 19-1098). Following the conclusion of the trial, the court filed the Jury Verdict on May 6, 2022. (R. p. 1164-1166). The court ordered through this, the Statement of Judgement, ordering in favor of Wendy Lynch against Elizabeth Langley in the amount of \$60,000.00 actual damages and \$250,000.00 punitive damages; in favor of Wendy Lynch against Rebecca White in the amount of \$40,000.00 actual damages and \$250,000.00 punitive damages; Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White were to no longer have any contact with Wendy Lynch and her son, Donald Jordan; and that Rebecca White was no longer to have any contact with Casea David pertaining this case. Id. Following the Judgement, Counsel for Elizabeth Langley, Mr. David Rigney, filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for New Trial on May 9, 2022 based on the fact that the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to support civil conspiracy, the Jury Verdict Form only provided one space for the Jury to state the amount of damages, and that there was insufficient evidence to support the amount of damages awarded to the plaintiff. (R. p. 1167-1169). The Circuit Court then ordered on July 5, 2022 that the Motion for New Trial filed on behalf of Elizabeth Langley was denied and that the court found there was sufficient evidence to support the Jury's Verdict. (R. p. 1174-1176).

Appellant timely filed her Notice of Appeal on July 18, 2022 by of her counsel, James R.

Snell, Jr.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arises out of a dispute regarding the Last Will and Testament of James Marion Lynch. Wendy Lynch, Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White are the three adult children of the decedent. (R. p. 1100-1103). Wendy Lynch filed suit against her sisters for civil conspiracy, defamation, abuse of process, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (R. p. 1-13).

James Marion Lynch died on February 9, 2013, after suffering with brain cancer. Prior to his death, he issued a will naming Wendy Lynch and Elizabeth Langley as co-personal representatives of his estate. (R. p. 1100-1103). Proceedings in the probate court became contested.

Wendy Lynch filed a Summons and Complaint in the Florence County Court of Commons Pleas in 2016. (R. p. 1-13). This case was tried before a jury on April 25-29, 2022. (R. p. 1-13; R. p. 19-1098). A jury returned a verdict in favor of Wendy Lynch against Elizabeth Langley in the amount of \$60,000 actual and \$300,000 punitive, and against Rebecca White in the amount of \$40,000 actual and \$250,000 punitive. (R. p. 1167-1169). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The circuit court, court of appeals, or Supreme Court shall hear and determine the appeal according to the rules of law.” S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-308(i); *see Golini v. Bolton*, 326 S.C. 33, 482 S.E.2d 784 (Ct.App. 2007); *see also Campbell v. Christian*, 235 S.C. 102, 110 S.E.2d 1 (1959). “In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of the appellate court extends merely to the correction of errors of law, and a factual finding by a jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence that reasonably supports the jury’s findings.” *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 656 S.E.2d 382, 387 (Ct.App. 2007), *citing Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006); *see Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

The standard of review towards an appeal with regards to a motion for directed verdict and/or motion notwithstanding the verdict is that “[w]hen appealing a trial court’s ruling on a motion for directed verdict and/or motion notwithstanding the verdict, [T]his Court applies the same standard as the trial court and views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 418 S.C. 24, 632, 791 S.E.2d 140, 144 (2016), *quoting Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 28, 602 S.E.2d 772, 782 (2004).

“[I]n ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court considers the existence of evidence rather than its weight, and if there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove the defendant’s guilt or from which his guilt may be logically deduced, the cause should be submitted to the jury.” *State v. LaCoste*, 347 S.C. 153, 162, 553 S.E.2d 464

(Ct.App. 2001), *citing* State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 270, 531 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2000). “In ruling on motions for directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inference that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing motions. The trial court must deny the motions when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” Steinke v. S.C. Carolina Dep’t of Labor, Licensing & Reg., 336 S.C. & Reg., 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999).; *see* Hurd v. Williamsburg Cnty., 363 S.C. 421, 611, S.E.2d 488 (2005); *see also* Hinkle v. Nat’l Cas. Ins. Co., 354 S.C. 92, 96, 579 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2003); *see also* Collins Entertainment, Inc. v. White, 363 S.C. 546, 611 S.E.2d 262 (Ct.App. 2005); *see also* Lingard v. Carolina By-Products, 361 S.C. 442, 446, 605 S.E.2d 545, 547 (Ct.App. 2004).

“Motions for directed verdict or JNOV should be denied if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in double.” Allegro at 32, 791 S.E.2d 140, 144, *citing* Strange v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp., 314 S.C. 427, 429-30, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 (1994). “[A] motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict.” Gattison v. S.C. State College, 318 S.C. 148, 456 S.E.2d 414 (Ct.App. 1995). “If, when viewed in the light most favorable to the [non-moving party], there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, refusal by the trial court to direct a verdict is not error.” State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 492 S.E.2d 408 (Ct.App. 1997), *citing* State v. Long, 352 S.C. 59, 480 S.E.2d 62 (1997); *see* State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 327, 468 S.E.2d 626, cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 117 S.Ct. 230, 136 L.Ed.2d 161 (1996).

“When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper.” Parrish at 338, *citing* Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 334

S.C. 469, 477-78, 514 S.E.2d 126, 130 (1999); *see Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 714, 541 S.E.2d 857, 860 (Ct.App. 2001). “However, if the evidence as a whole is susceptible for more than one reasonable inference, a jury issue is created and the motion should be denied.” *Id.*, *citing Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 345, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003); *see Adams v. G.J. Steel & Sons, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 274, 277, 465 S.E.2d 84, 85 (1995); *see also The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 187, 617 S.E.2d 125, 129 (Ct.App. 2005).

“When ruling on a motion for summary judgment or directed verdict in a defamation action, the court must review the evidence using the same substantive evidentiary standard of proof the jury is required to use in a particular case.” *Id.* at 387, *citing Erickson* at 464, 629 S.E.2d at 663; *see George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 400, 451-52, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874-75 (2001). “The issue must be submitted to the jury whenever there is material evidence tending to establish the issue in the mind of a reasonable juror.” *Id.* at 388, *citing Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997). “Yet this rule does not authorize submission of speculative, theoretical, and hypothetical views to the jury.” *Id.*, *citing Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448, 461, 494 S.E.2d 835, 842 (Ct.App. 1997).

The standard of review towards an appeal with regards to a trial court’s ruling on an objection, the issue is only preserved for the purposes of appeal if it is raised at trial and ruled on by the trial judge. *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 697 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct.App. 2010), *citing S.C. Dep’t Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). “An appellate court will reverse trial court’s ruling only if no evidence supports the ruling below.” *Allegro* at 32, 791 S.E.2d at 144, *citing Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 300, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418 (Ct.App. 2000). “The trial court abuses its discretion when the ruling based on

an error of law or factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” Garner at 617, *citing State v. Rice*, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 352 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct.App. 2007).

With appellate issues pertaining to ruling on the permissibility of whether or not specific words or phrases may be used by either party to a claim, “[r]ulings...are within the trial court’s sound discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the complaining party.” LaCoste at 160, *citing State v. Hugher*, 339 S.C. 439, 453, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728-29 (2000); *see State v. Varvil*, 338 S.C. 335, 340, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct.App. 2000). “[I]mproper admission...constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct.App. 2009). “Such error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial, and an appellate court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors.” Id. “An insubstantial error is harmless when guilt is proven by competent evidence such that no other rational decision could be reached or when the evidence is merely cumulative of other evidence.” Garner at 618, *citing State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 199-200, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct.App. 2009).

With appellate issues pertaining to rulings on allowing hearsay evidence to be entered into evidence at trial, “Rulings on the admissibility of evidence are within the trial court’s sound discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the complaining party.” LaCoste at 160, *citing State v. Hugher*, 339 S.C. 439, 453, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728-29 (2000); *see State v. Varvil*, 338 S.C. 335, 340, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct.App. 2000). “[I]mproper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.” Vick, at 199, 682 S.E.2d at 280. “Such error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial, and an appellate court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors.” Garner at 168, *citing State v. Vick*,

384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct.App. 2009). “An insubstantial error is harmless when guilt is proven by competent evidence such that no other rational decision could be reached or when the evidence is merely cumulative of other evidence.” Id. at 168, *citing* State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199-200, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct.App. 2009).

ARGUMENTS

I. The Trial Court erred in overruling Appellant’s Motion for Directed Verdict and/or Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the cause of action of Civil Conspiracy.

Civil conspiracy has a long history of uncertainty, both in its elements and in its proper application. Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774, 775 (2021). “The elements of civil conspiracy are not always defined in exactly the same way.” 4 James Lockhart, *Cause of Action for Civil Conspiracy*, Cause of Action §4, at 530 (2d ed. 1994). The widely accepted definition of civil conspiracy is “[a] combination between two or more persons to accomplish a criminal or unlawful purpose, or some purpose not in itself criminal or unlawful by criminal or unlawful means, subjects the confederates to criminal prosecution; and, if injury ensues to an individual therefrom, it subjects them to a civil action by their victim.” Francis M. Burdick, *Conspiracy as a Crime and as a Tort*, 7 Colum.L.Rev. 229 (1907).

In the State of South Carolina, civil conspiracy is held as “a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing [omitted] damage to the plaintiff.” McMillian v. Oconee Mem’l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2006) (word “special” omitted due to the recent ruling in Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021)). Notably, “[a] plaintiff need not allege an unlawful act to state a cause of action; lawful acts may become actionable as a civil conspiracy if the objective is to ruin or damage the business of another.” Allegro, at 32, 791 S.E.2d at 144, *citing* LaMotte v. Punch Line of Columbia, Inc., 296 S.C. 66, 70, 370 S.E.2d 711, 713 (1988). “Conspiracy may be

inferred from the very nature of the acts done, the relationship of the parties, the interests of the alleged conspirators, and other circumstances.” Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n of S.C. v. Res. Planning Corp., 358 S.C. 460, 470, 596 S.E.2d 51, 57 (2004). “The difference between civil conspiracy and criminal conspiracy is that in criminal conspiracy the agreement or conspiracy is the gravamen of the offense, but in civil actions the conspiracy is not the gravamen of the charge, but may be both pleaded and proved as aggravating the wrong of which plaintiff complains, the gravamen of the tort being the damage resulting to plaintiff from an overt act done pursuant to the common design.” 15A C.J.S. Conspiracy §1(1) (2012). The primary factor in regards to a cause of action of civil conspiracy is that the purpose of a civil conspiracy is to injure the plaintiff. Allegro at 32, 418 S.E.2d at 144, *citing* Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 567, 663 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006).

At no point in the trial does Respondent show that Appellant and co-Defendant acted in conjunction with each other with the intent to injure Respondent. At no point are the allegedly defamatory statements shown to come from both Appellant and co-Defendant as part of a plan to injure Respondent, as opposed to a joint interest in looking out for the best interest of their father’s Estate and his memory. At no point is Respondent able to show that Appellant and co-Defendant acted together with “the objective...to ruin or damage the business of [Respondent].” Id., *citing* LaMotte at 70, 370 S.E.2d at 713.

The most tangible thing Respondent is able to point to as part of a civil conspiracy between the two, is co-Defendant White’s use of the word “we”. (R. p. 271, lines 10-19; R. p. 272, lines 10-19; R. p. 289, lines 21-25; R. p. 290, line 1). Co-Defendant uses the word “we” when cross-examining the Personal Representative of their father’s Estate regarding distribution of funds and that his dealing with the two women gave him the impression that they were

“singing from the same sheet of music” in regards to what should happen with regards to the Estate. (R. p. 55, lines 10-19; R. p. 272, lines 10-19). In Respondent’s questioning of Appellant regarding her co-Defendant’s use of the word “we” in reference to court filings, Appellant denied any collusion between herself and co-Defendant. (R. p. 289, lines 21-25; R. p. 290, line 1). It is important to also point out the fact that Appellant had legal representation through the trial and preceding case, whereas co-Defendant was pro se, thus would have had no say in what Appellant’s attorney filed with the court and would likely have only seen the documents after they had already been filed with the court.

At no time during the trial does Respondent offer any proof that Appellant and her co-Defendant conspired together or colluded to injure Respondent, nor does either party admit to doing so. No evidence was offered or testimony given to show that Appellant and her co-Defendant made any of the defamatory statements in question together as part of a plan to injure Respondent. Respondent, at best, is only able to show that Appellant and co-Defendant independently held the same ideas and opinions about Respondent’s actions and character.

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