STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE H. STEVEN DEBERRY, IV., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001006

Wendy Lynch,

Respondent,

v.

Elizabeth Langley and Rebecca White Lynch,

Defendants,

of whom Elizabeth Langley is the Appellant and
Rebecca White Lynch is a Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

s/Kathy R. Schillaci

Joseph M. McCulloch, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 3760)

Kathy R. Schillaci (S.C. Bar No. 17248)

McCulloch & Schillaci, Attorneys at La

1116 Blanding Street, First Floor (29201)

P.O. Box 11623

Columbia, South Carolina 29211

joe@mccullochlaw.com

kathy@mccullochlaw.com

Patrick James McLaughlin

Wukela Law Office

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

- The SISTERS driving by Respondent's residence, taking pictures of Respondent's guests, and causing such a disturbance generally at the residence that the probate court terminated the provision in the temporary order allowing the SISTERS' to visit the residential property. (*Id.* p. 13-14, 16).

As such, even if the issue had been preserved for appeal, the "any evidence" standard was met. In the light most favorable to Respondent, evidence supports the factual findings implicit in the jury's verdict. More than one reasonable inference could be drawn from the evidence. For these reasons, if the Court finds the issue is preserved for appeal, then this Court should find the lower court did not err in denying the directed verdict motion as to civil conspiracy. This Court should affirm the verdict.

III. THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

As an initial matter, as with the civil conspiracy cause of action in Issue I, the question of whether or not the court erred in overruling Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict is not preserved for appellate review. Appellant moved for a directed verdict after the close of Plaintiff's case, which motion was denied. (R. p. 869, line 16 – p. 878, line 19; p. 886, lines 2-10). Thereafter, Appellant presented witnesses *but did not renew the motion* at the close of all the evidence. (*See generally* R. p. 911, line 2 - p. 988, line 17). Similarly, Appellant did not raise the issue in the Motion for New Trial. (R. pp. 25-27); *see also* Respondent's Brief, Issue I.

As Appellant presented witnesses but did not renew the directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence, this matter has not been preserved for appeal.

IV. EVEN IF PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW, THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS AS EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT.

Even if the matter is preserved for appellate review, which it is not, the lower court, in the light most favorable to Respondent as non-moving party, did not err in denying the Appellant's initial motion for directed verdict. Evidence was presented to support the jury's verdict in Respondent's favor for intentional infliction of emotional distress.

In order to succeed on a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress (IIED), a claimant must show: (1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, or was certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from his conduct; (2) the conduct was so "extreme and outrageous" so as to exceed "all possible bounds of decency" and must be regarded as "atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community;" (3) the actions of the defendant caused plaintiff's emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was "severe" such that "no reasonable man could be expected to endure it." *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 (2007).

Here, in the light most favorable to Respondent, there is ample evidence to support the jury's verdict for intentional infliction of emotional distress.⁷ The jury had sufficient evidence to reasonably conclude that Appellant's almost ten-year, non-stop

⁷ The jury also returned a verdict for Respondent Lynch against Respondent White for IIED. As Respondent White has not appealed the verdict, this argument focuses on only Appellant for purposes of this appeal.

actions as set forth in the Statement of the Case met all the required elements for IIED. Appellant's conduct was not only intentional and/or reckless, but also extreme and outrageous as to exceed all bounds of human decency. It is extreme and outrageous to accuse someone, without basis, of killing their father, harming him, stealing from his Estate, fabricating his will, conspiring with attorneys and judges, and not being someone's biological child. Even after all of the investigations and decisions proving the Appellant's claims were baseless, Appellant *continued* making the same false accusations and repeated those claims to the jury.

There was evidence, in the light most favorable to Respondent, that Appellant did everything she could to harm Respondent's professional careers by false reports to physicians, nurses, social services, The Florence County Coroner, SCBON, and Senator Johnson. Appellant did everything she could to make Respondent fearful at home to include photographing and harassing guests, publishing to the community that Appellant has stolen and hidden millions of dollars in cash, silver, and gold on the property where Respondent lives, and engaging in behavior so extreme that the probate court ended the SISTERS' right to visit the property. Singularly and especially in combination, these acts are ones a jury could reasonably find as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized society.

Respondent testified to her fear over her physical safety and the emotional "unbearable" trauma and anxiety of this lost decade. She has "almost become recluse" and hears continually from people, "where's them gold bars?" (R. p. 721, lines 8-17).

While Appellant argues in her brief that Respondent's counsel has somehow diluted Respondent's claim because of his references to Respondent as "tough" in closing argument, "arguments made by counsel are not evidence," *South Carolina Dep't of Transp. v. Thompson*, 357 S.C. 101, 105, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003); (R. p. 1048, lines 12-14). The jury heard from Respondent and found the emotional distress to be severe such that no reasonable man could be expected to endure it. (Verdict Form, p. 3).

For these reasons, even if the issue is preserved for appeal, there is evidence to support the jury's verdict against Appellant for intentional infliction of emotional distress. This Court should affirm the verdict.

V. AS THE VERDICT FORM WAS APPROVED WITHOUT OBJECTION BY ALL PARTIES, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE VERDICT FORM TO BE SENT TO THE JURY.

Appellant's argument that the lower court erred in allowing the verdict form to be sent to the jury is not preserved for appeal. "In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been timely raised by the appellant with sufficient specificity and ruled upon by the trial court." *Eades v. Palmetto Cardiovascular and Thoracic, PA*, 422 S.C. 196, 200 n.3, 810 S.E.2d 848, 850, n. 3 (2018).

Specifically, a party must make a timely objection to the verdict form in order to raise it as an issue on appeal. *Gause v. Smithers*, 403 S.C. 140, 151, 742 S.E.2d 644, 650 (2013); see also *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d 849 (2005)(holding that issue raised for first time in Rule 59, SCRPC, motion is not preserved for review).

Here, Appellant approved the very verdict form that she now disputes. (R. p. 945, lines 2-15). As the legal somnolence has been described, "one who sleeps on a right cannot then assert it." While Appellant cites *Day v. Kilgore*, 314 S.C. 365, 444 S.E.2d 515 (1994) in support of her argument, that matter did not involve verdict forms but rather active participation by jurors in questioning witnesses which absolutely did not occur here.

As such, the trial court did not err and the issue is not preserved for appellate review. This Court should affirm the verdicts.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE VOICEMAIL MESSAGE LEFT FOR RESPONDENT BY APPELLANT'S ATTORNEY TO BE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE AS THE VOICEMAIL WAS NOT HEARSAY.

During Appellant's cross-examination, she volunteered testimony that one of her many attorneys, Eric Poston, whom she had hired for her civil case, tried to "sabotage me by threatening [Respondent] on a telephone call that I had nothing to do with, and so I – I fired him." (R. p. 285, lines 22-24). As Appellant volunteered, "[The attorney] told [Respondent] not to call the police. He told her she needed to settle this matter with [the SISTERS]." (R. p. 286, lines 7-10). Inexplicably, Appellant further claimed, "He did that to sabotage me because he knows you [referring to Respondent's trial counsel]. He knows you and your aunt – or his aunt knows you is what he told me." (R. p. 286, lines 14-16). Appellant offered, in front of the jury, to play the voicemail. (R. p. 286, lines 4-5).

Thereafter, during the Respondent's testimony, she was asked about Appellant's testimony in regards to Mr. Poston's voicemail. (R. p. 701, line 4 – p. 702, line 9). She

described the substance of the call including but limited to Mr. Poston's identifying himself and stating he represented Appellant. (R. p. 701, line 14 – p. 702, p. 5). Late into this testimony wherein Respondent was relaying what Mr. Poston said in the voicemail, it appears Appellant's counsel objected to hearsay but did not move to strike any of Respondent's testimony describing the substance of the call. (R. p. 701, line 5 – p. 706, line 19).⁸ Taking up Appellant's earlier invitation in front of the jury to play the voicemail, Respondent's counsel offered to let the court hear the voicemail. *Id.* Respondent's counsel replied that the voicemail (which was an original recording) was an "exception to the hearsay rule" as an admission of a party opponent. (R. p. 712, line 9 – p. 715, line 21); *see also* Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. Appellant's counsel admitted, "I don't deny that the party's bound by the admissions, but again, that doesn't change the hearsay nature of the statement." (R. p. 712, lines 1-3).

After hearing the voicemail outside of the jury, Appellant's attorney objected to hearsay, and the lower court overruled the objection based on "evidence that's already been presented in this case and the law that's been argued here." (R. p. 714, line 25 – p. 715, line 3). Respondent returned to the stand and the voicemail was played with no further objection by Appellant's counsel.

Here, there is evidentiary support for the trial court's ruling under 801(d)(2) and the case law. Under Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE, a statement is not hearsay where it is offered against a party and is:

⁸ *See State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 129, 551 S.E.2d 240, 248 (2001)(When a witness answers a question before an objection is made, the objecting party must make a motion to strike the answer to preserve the issue of that statement's admissibility.). However, Appellant is appealing the voicemail, and not appealing Respondent's describing exactly what was said by Mr. Poston.

- (A) The party's own statement in either an individual or a representative capacity;
- (B) A statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth, or
- (C) A statement by a person authorized by the party to make a statement concerning the subject, or
- (D) A statement by the party's agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of the agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship, or
- (E) A statement by a coconspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Id.

Attorneys are representatives of their clients and are authorized to make statements on behalf of their clients. As set forth in our case law: "Acts of an attorney are directly attributable to and binding upon the client." *Arnold v. Yarborough*, 281 S.C. 570, 572, 316 S.E.2d 416, 417 (Ct. App. 1984); *see also* *Motley v. Williams*, 374 S.C. 107, 647 S.E.2d 244 (Ct. App. 2007)("Any communication failure or mistake on the part of an attorney is directly attributable to his client.")

Here, Appellant was clearly aware of the voicemail as *she is the one who put the fact into evidence*. (R. p. 285, lines 22-24). While Appellant's counsel tried to argue that Mr. Poston was not representing Appellant at the time of the voicemail (as Appellant also does in her Brief, pp. 19-20), Appellant stated under oath that Mr. Poston was representing her and verbally corrected her trial counsel twice to confirm that Mr. Poston *was* representing her in the civil case. (R. p. 285, lines 22-24; p. 714, lines 2-6; p. 713, lines 14-25).

Moreover, the record supports testimony from both Appellant and Respondent as to the substance of the call, the words said by Mr. Poston. (R. p. 286, lines 7-10; p.

701, line 14 – p. 702, p. 5). Mr. Poston, advancing the interests of the conspiracy and the legal claims for which he had been hired by Appellant, left the voicemail on Appellant’s behalf, stating he was representing Appellant, and advancing factual claims and conduct in the voicemail that Appellant herself has adopted during the conspiracy.

(R. p. 701, line 15 – p. 702, line 5). Specifically, that the:

- “deed to the farm was not in [Respondent’s] name”
- Appellant had “every right to be there”
- “They were coming and bringing the law with them”
- “if [Respondent] didn’t agree this was going to be years in litigation,”
- “if you [Respondent] can afford years of litigation, then you must have taken something that wasn’t yours.”

Id.

Based on the trial record, there is evidentiary support for the trial judge’s finding that the voicemail is an admission by a party opponent under any of the 801(d)(2) subsections. Appellant and Respondent both testified to the substance of the call. As Respondent had the original recording (the actual voicemail left on Respondent’s phone), this constitutes the best evidence of what was said in the voicemail. *See* Rule 1002, SCRE (“To prove the content of a . . . recording, the original . . . recording is required, except as otherwise provided in these rules or by statute)(emphasis added). As such, the trial court’s reasoned decision to allow the introduction of the recording was not a manifest abuse of discretion.

Moreover, there is no probable prejudice. “The materiality and prejudicial character of the alleged error” must be “determined in its relationship to the entire

case.” *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890-891 (1971). “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *State v. Sims*, 661 S.E.2d 122, 126, 377 S.C. 598 (Ct. App. 2008).

Here, *Appellant herself* volunteered the fact of the voicemail and testified to the substance of the call, all in support of her *own theory* that her attorney was trying to *help Respondent by leaving the voicemail*. (R. p. 285, lines 22-24). Respondent testified to the substance of the call and that testimony is part of the record. She offered to play it. There is no evidence that the actual recording added or detracted from the trial testimony but was the best evidence of what was said.

Contrary to Appellant’s claim in her brief that this was a “life threatening” threat (Initial Brief, p. 19), the threat established in the record was more time and legal expense if Respondent did not settle with her SISTERS. Moreover, although Appellant’s trial counsel objected, he did not proffer the actual voicemail for the record. Given the overwhelming amount of evidence in the case as a whole, Appellant cannot show that the voicemail reasonably affected the rest of the trial. For all of these reasons, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice.

As an additional sustaining ground, Appellant “opened the door” to the testimony by her putting the fact of the voicemail into evidence, claiming the voicemail from her own attorney was an effort by him to help Respondent, and then offering to play the voicemail to the jury.

For all of these reasons, the judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing the playing of the voicemail and even if he did abuse his discretion, which he did not, no

prejudice resulted. As such, this Court should find that the trial court did not err in allowing the voicemail into evidence. This Court should affirm the verdicts.

VII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE USE OF THE WORD "KILL" AS THERE WAS NO OBJECTION TO THE USE OF THE WORD AT TRIAL.

This issue is not preserved for appellate review as there was no objection at trial to use of the word "kill" or its derivations (e.g. killing, killed). This is the first time the issue is being raised. *In re Michael H.*, 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004) ("An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.")

At the beginning of the trial, Appellant's counsel objected *in limine* to the Respondent using the word "murder." (R. p. 76, lines 14-22; R. p. 85, lines 16-24). The trial court agreed and then asked Appellant's counsel: "do you object to the term killing?" His response was, "No." (R. p. 82, lines 16-19). While Appellant's counsel goes on to recommend "use of the actual words," Appellant never objects to the trial court's decision to allow the use of the word "kill."

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